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Salem Countians on the Frontline of the Global Pandemic of 1918                                                                  
By: Mike Dixon 

 When the Spanish flu crept into Salem County in October 1918, 

few people initially took notice of the mysterious killer that came 

calling in distant corners of the County, out along the Delaware 

River. The pathogen, seizing hold in those pockets, hit Fort Mott, 

and the DuPont Powder Works hard. Of the 210 men garrisoned at 

the Fort, 80 were in the hospital with influenza at one time.1 

Furthermore, with World War I winding down, the Central Powers 

in Europe unraveling on all fronts, patriotic citizens focused on 

preparing to celebrate victory and welcome theiboysihome.                                                                                                   

 Once the virus slipped beyond these military and industrial hubs, 

it spread swiftly with a devastating sweep across the mostly rural 

landscape. When the Board of Health finally tallied up the toll from 

influenza the following year, the annual report noted that deaths in 

the County increased nearly 50 percent over 1917, an additional 226 

people passing away. Upper Penns Neck Township experienced the 

highest mortality rate, 2.6%. Salem City, Woodstown, Elmer, and 

Penns Grove also suffered greatly. Lower Alloways Creek had the 

lowest death rate, 1.2%i(seeitablei1iforidetailsibyitownship).2                                                          

      

 

 

 

 In this topsy-turvy world, a striking, unrivaled silence fell on this 

corner ofiNew Jersey, as public health boards ordered quarantines 

and other measures at the top of October. Not a church bell rang, 

while on the streets few people, automobiles, or other vehicles were 

around for most of the month as assemblies were called off, and 

businesses closed their doors while people tended to stay away from 

each other.                                                                                                     

 While things came to a standstill in much of the County, 

essential workers toiled away day and night, struggling to alleviate 

the suffering.  These often-forgotten, overextended frontline 

personnel were the heroes of 1918, just as our overworked critical 

handsiareitodayiasitheyifightitheicoronavirus.                                                                                                     

                (continue on page 34) 

    

 

In the summer 2019 issue, we examined the pandemic of 1918, which brought terrible death and suffering to                

Salem County. When that piece appeared in the Newsletter, no one could have guessed that in six months, another 
pandemic of historic proportions, the novel coronavirus of 2020, would rip across the world, shutting Salem County 

down for months while public health officials struggle to control the pathogen’s spread. Thus, as the nation battles 
the COVID-19 outbreak, the Newsletter takes a further look at the fight against the disease here 102-years-ago. 

******************   

Various public safety messages from 1918. Source: Illinois Health Department 

via Chicago Public Library Digital Collections. 

NJ Spanish Flu Deaths (image identified) The New Jersey Board of 

Health Annual Report provided the vital statistics for 1918. 
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The Quarterly Newsletter is  
published by the                                  

Salem County Historical Society  
Spring, Summer, Fall and Winter. 

 
Mission Statement: The mission of 
the Salem County Historical Society 
is to seek, document, preserve, 
interpret and perpetuate Salem 
County's heritage, and to enhance the 
awareness and appreciation of that 
heritage, through its research, 
collections, functions, exhibits, 
educational programs and 
publications, for the benefit of future 
generations and for the betterment of 
the community. 

 
Research Library &                       

Museum Hours 
Tuesday through Saturday    

Noon - 4PM 
Admission Fee $5.00 
Free for Members! 

www.salemcountyhistoricalsociety.com 
 

Address Correspondence to: 
Salem County Historical Society 

83 Market Street 
Salem, New Jersey 08079 

Tel. (856) 935-5004 
 
 This publication may include 
historical materials that contain 
language or stereotypes reflecting the 
culture or language of a particular 
period or place.  These items are 
presented as part of the historical 
record. 

 

 

What a great gift idea for family or friends                                         

with ties to Salem County!  

A gift membership to the Salem County 

Historical Society includes many special 

features available only through the end of the 

year.   

Gift memberships come in a special gift 

package that can be sent to you, or directly to 

the recipient.   

Simply fill in the membership form on the 

bottom of page 39 and attach a note with your 

contact information and the contact 

information for the individual or family 

receiving the gift.  

For the same cost as the regular memberships, 

your gift membership package will also 

include:  

 

Charming personalized gift package 

A copy of Place Names of Salem County  

A set of 6 Grant House note cards  

3 postcards of the Salem Oak  

Gift Memberships 

*Please note: A number of Society events were postponed or canceled this year due to 
COVID-19.  
They are as follows: 
-Salem County Revolutionary Driving Caravan Tour (in conjunction with the Hancock      
iiHouse) was scheduled for March 13th 
-Spring Open House Tour, Saturday, May 2nd  
-June Quarterly meeting, Sunday, June 14th  
-Annual Luncheon, Sunday, September 14th 
-John S. Rock Memorial Lecture, Sunday, October 18th   
-December Quarterly Meeting, Sunday, December 6th  
 
The Society relies on income from these events and greatly appreciates any extra support 
you can provide this year in lieu of these social gatherings. Should you wish to make a 
donation to our organization during this closure please do not hesitate to contact us. 

Dear Reader: 

 Public Health is normally a behind the scenes activity but has taken center stage for 
our 2020 pandemic. In the 1930's my grandmother contracted tuberculosis and was 
assigned to the Camden County sanatorium. Her daughter (my mother) lived with her. As 
a child in the early 1960's I remember enjoying the polio vaccine sugar cube.                                 
 This quarter's main article continues the history of the 1918 Pandemic in Salem 
County. I hope that the Society's newsletters provide glimpses into the past showing how 
Salem County ancestors banded together to take on tough times.                                                               
 The Society’s museum is now open by appointment for tours. Our museum committee 
volunteers have come onsite to prepare of an exhibit on the Salem County glass industry. 
The Library Committee will be continuing cataloging documents and selecting those for 
conservation. Staff have also returned to the facility to aid the committees in planning of 
the Society.                                                                                                                      
 The Society's reopening has be staged and may include permanent changes for access, 
touring and research. Your patience is appreciated and feel free to make suggestions as 
we interpret the regulations to maximize staff and visitor safety. 

I'd love to hear from you. 

Sincerely, 

 

 

Curtis W. Harker, President 

http://www.salemcounty.com/schs
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Upcoming Exhibit News! 

 The Museum Committee has been developing an upcoming exhibit on the 

glass industry in Salem County. In 1738 Caspar Wistar, a German immigrant 

from Philadelphia, acquired over 2,000 acres of land in Alloway for the start 

of the first successful glass factory in North America. From 1739 to 1781, 

Wistarburg produced windowpanes, bottles, and other containers. After 

Wistarburg’s closure, glass production in Salem County ceased until 1862 

with the start of Salem Glass Works. Several subsequent factories will be 

highlighted in the new exhibit including: Quinton, Gayner, Alva, Elmer, 

Anchor Hocking, and Ardagh Glass Works. This exhibit will seek to highlight 

the economic and historical impact of the glass industry in Salem County, 

which by 1880 employed over 24,000 people. Electrical work has been 

completed in the glass room and display cases are currently being assembled. 

Objects have been selected and the committee remains in the middle stages of 

organizing a cohesive historical narrative while following social distancing 

guidelines. Be on the lookout for future Facebook posts regarding the 

committees progress on the exhibit! 

Packing Machine-Made Bottles at Gayner Glass Works.              

                                                         From the collection 

Gayner Glassworks—1943—Blowing glass by mouth. Jim Davis, 

Sam Shorts (white hat) Raymond “Snapper” Drummond (hand on 

hip), John Shorts—center.                                       From the collection   

NEW 2020 HOLIDAY ORNAMENT 

Our new 2020 ornament this year goes 

hand in hand with our upcoming Glass 

Industry Exhibit! This image is an 

example of the first glass company in 

the country. Wistarburg Glassworks 

was located in Alloway Township, 

Salem County, NJ, and was in 

operation from 1738 through c. 1775. 

The cost is $25.00 plus tax for  non-

members, and $20.00 plus tax for 

members!  

Advertisement for Anchor-Hocking Glass 

Corp., Salem, NJ.            From the collection 

Limited Quantity!                 

Last year’s 2019 ornament is still 

available, the famous Salem Oak 

Tree! Get yours before they are 

all gone!!  



 

 

Page 32              Quarterly Newsletter                Fall 2020 



 

 

Fall 2020                 Quarterly Newsletter                                                         Page 33 



 

 

Page 34                             Quarterly Newsletter                                                                 Fall 2020 

(continuedifromicover)                                                                                        

 These Salem Countians, the flu fighters of 1918, stood at the 

epicenter of the local battle 102-years-ago, as the contagion raged 

unchecked with no cures available.  In the troop of people delivering 

vital services, doctors and nurses stood on the front line. Alongside these 

bedside caregivers, the druggists, telephone operators, undertakers, Red 

Cross volunteers, and gravediggers played an equally essential role as 

the invisible virus ripped unchecked across South Jersey.                                                    

 Local physicians on the home front for this fight steadied themselves 

for the battle with the invisible bug when the contagion crept into 

boroughs and townships in 1918. The medical practitioners in this lethal 

struggle had no curative treatments — without vaccines or antibiotics, 

they experimented, prescribing drugs to control cough and relieve pain, 

alongside various treatments previously used for respiratory diseases.  

The regimens included morphine for pain, quinine for malaria, digitalis 

for heart conditions, phenacetin for fever reduction, and throat antiseptic 

rinses,ialongiwithiether,iandichloroformiforianesthetics.3                                 

 Throughout late September and October, the County’s doctors kept 

on the move, rushing from home to home day and night while snatching 

brief rest periods. They found it necessary to give daily attention to only 

the most critically ill as the medical men received more calls than they 

could handle, their ranks already thinned by military duty. Also, some 

fell victim to the malady, it being reported that Salem’s Dr. Ewen was in 

very serious condition. Then, the sickness compelled Dr. Hummell to 

take to bed after handing 750 cases. With trained clinicians 

overstretched, Dr. N. S. Hires, who hadn’t practiced for years, 

volunteered his service. It was apparent that the practicing physicians 

hadifarimoreithanitheyicouldihandle.4,5                                                                                            

 In this time of grave disruption, phone company operators and 

linemen stood out as a group of essential workers struggling to maintain 

a vital service. War-related communications needs had already increased 

demand on the wires, straining the network. Then the 

pandemiciaddeditoitheiheavyiload.                                                                                                       

 This silent killer struck some of its first victims at the Powder 

Works. That September, before community spread took place, a large 

force of Bell Telephone men worked to install additional lines and 

switchboards for DuPont. But influenza hit them hard, practically 

shutting down the work. Later, the operators at the county seat’s Western 

Union Telegraph Office came down with the bug, so that important 

communications work was transferred to the railroad station where ticket 

agent Lester Swain started receiving and sending all 

telegraphicidispatches.                                                                                                              

 With the growing public health emergency switchboards in boroughs 

all around the County received more and more calls as additional 

families fell victim to the flu. Plus, people became more or less afraid to 

mingle in public places, so they left their homes as infrequently as 

possible, but this too increased social and business transactions over the 

wires.                                                                                                                    

 At this time, the network depended on local telephone exchanges in 

the towns, the operators working in tight quarters connecting callers at 

the switchboard. These “hello girls” sat closely together, almost elbow to 

elbow, with other workers. Thus, when the contagion started rampaging 

at every point, the illness struck the central stations, depleting the ranks 

of operators at the same time sickness and the quarantine increased calls.   

 “Central had literally been shot to pieces by influenza,” in Salem 

City, is how Manager Harry W. Enos described the situation as his 

operators worked under a severe handicap. The few girls that luckily 

escaped the infection had been going to the limit of endurance, doing the 

workiofitwiceitheirinumbers.                                                                             

 Manager Enos urged phone subscribers to cut out every unnecessary 

call.  “Visiting over the telephone was popular and much indulged in,” 

he observed. And, since many unimportant calls were made, if there was 

“conservation of conversation over the wires,” there would be service for 

the doctors, druggists, undertakers, and other vital business. In these 

days of very much illness, these unnecessary calls overloaded the 

struggling girls and interfered with critical service.6                                                      

 As Salem County didn’t have a hospital, one of the first measures 

implemented was the establishment of a temporary emergency hospital 

at the First Baptist Church in the City. Before the emergency hospital 

hastily opened, patients needing hospitalization were transported to 

Bridgeton or Camden. Mrs. W. Hazelton took charge of the treatment 

center, and she had a corps of capable local ladies assisting with patient 

care.7                                                                                                                    

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                          

  

                                              

 From the onset of this emergency in Salem County, the sick and ill 

relied on the ladies to provide most palliative care. They took charge of 

caring for the stricken in the “flu homes,” sitting up all night with ill 

family members and neighbors. This day-to-day care in the sick homes 

required constant attention, providing the person down with the flu 

liquids and nourishment, keeping the room ventilated, making sure they 

were warm enough, and administering whatever remedies doctors could 

provide to alleviate suffering. As the contagion rampaged across the 

land, the work was especially hard as frequently entire households 

became infected.     

Tow nurses and two patients. Memorial Hospital of Salem County interior, 

undated.                                               From the William Harris Photography 

Use the Handkerchief . . . United States Public 

Health Service., via Library of Congress 



 

 

Fall 20 20                Quarterly Newsletter                                              Page 35  

 When entire households became stricken, weakened families 

struggled to survive as there was no one to care for the children and the 

sick. One of the saddest situations, newspapers remarked, was at the 

farm of Clement Lippincott in Mannington Township, where both Mr. 

and Mrs. Warren Nixon passed away, leaving a family of six small 

children. The youngest was about six weeks old and the oldest eight 

years. In those difficult circumstances, the local Red Cross volunteers 

stepped forward, the ladies nursing the stricken in the household.8                                                                                                           

  

                                                           

 One day at the emergency hospital, there was unusual bustle and 

preparation, as “old Mr. Stork” visited. “When he departed, there was a 

fine, husky man-child there to comfort the mother and to the delight of 

the nurses and attendants. Even the other patients forgot their sufferings 

long enough to join in the rejoicing with the parent,” the Sunbeam 

reported. Mr. Burt, he had “no front name as yet,” was doing very well 

in his temporary home and his mother too, and in due time he would take 

up his permanent home at the family residence on Front Street in the 

City.9                                                                                                                      

 Owing to the unprecedented number of deaths, the undertakers were 

on the go day and night, hearses rolling along township roads and 

country lanes. At Ashcroft’s Morgue in Penns Grove, a pathetic site took 

place with fathers, husbands, wives, and children weeping for their loved 

ones. Within a half-hour, one Sunday, six corpses arrived at the morgue, 

as 30 bodies waited to be embalmed. At Gross’s Undertaking Parlor, 

there were six bodies without caskets to bury them in.10                                     

 Complicating the difficulties, many of those who cared for the dead 

feel ill. Funeral Director Roy Allen was down with the flu for at least ten 

days, and all the members of his family were sick. In Penns Grove, Ben 

Noal, one of the borough’s undertakers was stricken. Also, the pandemic 

filled cemeteries in its wake, the gravediggers being worn out from 

opening so many graves.11 When it became impossible at the Eastview 

Cemetery to have all the burial plots ready, Sheriff Mifflin sent a half-

dozen inmates from the Road Camp to help with the digging.12                    

 The druggists, from every corner of the County, toiled away too as 

the cases multiplied, providing vitally needed medications. Antiseptics 

by the gallon, atomizers by the dozens, and countless vials of patent 

medicines, passed over drug store counters at Dixon & Fogg, Andrews 

& Co & Tuchy & Lounsbury (Salem), Shur Drugs (Penns Grove) and 

elsewhere.13 But the most significant contribution from this army of 

professional pharmacists was filling doctor’s prescriptions. Alongside 

their clerks, exhausted stood for long hours at their workbenches, 

welding the pestle and mortar. They counted, poured, measured, ground, 

and compounded chemicals, incessantly filling physician scripts to 

alleviateitheimisery.                                                                                                                

 Toward the end of October, the suffering and death declined, so the 

Salem City Board of Health lifted the quarantine on Wednesday, 

October 30, 1918, at 3 pm for businesses and churches, but the order still 

held for schools and Sunday Schools. The quarantine, which included 

restrictions on funerals, along with the closing of schools, movie houses, 

dance halls, pool halls churches, and other places of public assembly, 

hadibeeniiniplaceiforipracticallyitheientireimonth.                                                  

 A “mighty sigh of relief went up from the people when the action 

became known, the Sunbeam remarked. That Wednesday morning, 

downtown Salem bustled with activity “that had not been seen there for 

several weeks.” The owners of the ice cream parlors, hotels, and soda 

fountains were busy getting in shape for business. The moving picture 

houses announced they would reopen Saturday, but no one under the age 

ofi15icouldiattendishows.14                                                                                       

 The quarantine had been a great hardship on Salem County, but the 

residents adjusted to the new normal, cooperating, and doing their part 

without complaint. “Among the pastors and their people, there was great 

satisfaction and no adverse criticism because the ban” still held for 

Sunday Schools. Business places, the Sunbeam observed, had suffered 

an enormous loss in receipts, but they too did their part.15                                             

 In some ways, the events we are living through this year mirror the 

public interventions introduced here in the autumn of 1918. Today as our 

medical providers struggle to slow the spread of the coronavirus, we 

hear about quarantines, social distancing, sheltering-in-place, the 

wearing of masks, warnings not to gather in groups, along with the 

shuttering of non-essential activities. While we may use different terms, 

these public health concepts were familiar to people living here in 1918 

as the words and actions from that age had the same goals.                                               

 In that topsy-turvy world 102-years-ago, Salem Countians had lived 

through a global tragedy, one of the worst ever to take place. Now this 

summer we are once again coping with an unprecedented public health 

emergency. 

EndiNotes:                                                                                                           
1 “Heavy Toll at Fort Mott,” Salem Sunbeam,iOct.i11,i1918,ip.1                             
2 Department of Health of the State of New Jersey, Forty-Second Annual  
iiReport,i1919,iTrenton                                                                                          
3 Lüthy IA, Ritacco V, Kantor IN. A cien años de la gripe  0"española" [One 
iihundred years after the "Spanish" flu]. Medicina (B Aires). 2018;78(2):113-
118.                                                                                                                                     
4 “Epidemic Takes Heavy Death Toll,” Salem Sunbeam, Oct. 18, 1918 p1                    
5 Polk’s Medical Register and Directory of the United Stats and Canada, 
01918ip.i990,iR.iL.iPolki&iCo.,iPublishers:iDetroit                                        
6 “Central Shot to Pieces,” Nov. 1, 1918, Salem Standard and Jerseyman, 
0iiOct.i2,i1918                                                                                                            
7 Mike Dixon, “When Death Came Calling, Salem County Needed a 
0Hospital,” Quarterly Newsletter, Salem County Historical Society. Vol. 64. 
iiNo. 2, p. 1 – See this article for a full discussion on the hospital.                       
8 “Influenza Cases in City,” Salem Standard & Jerseyman, Oct. 9, 1918, 0p1.                                                                                                                      
9 “Stork Pays Visit to Emergency Hospital,” Salem Sunbeam, Oct. 18, 1918, 
iiip.1                                                                                                                                  
10 “Penn’s Grove & Carney’s Point,”  Salem Sunbeam, Oct. 18, 1918, p.1                 
11 “Epidemic Takes Heavy Death Tool,” Salem Sun Beam, Oc. 18, 1918 p. 1                                                                                            
12 “Sunday School Now Hospital,” Salem Sunbeam,  Oct. 11, 1918, p.1                      
13 “The Era Druggist Directory,” 18th Edition, 1920, D.O. Haynes & Co. 
00iPublishers:iNewiYork                                                                                     
14 “Business as Usual in This City,” Salem Sunbeam, Nov. 1, 1918 p. 1                 
15 Ibid  

Salem County’s Volunteer Nurses and Outside Nurses.                                                

             Salem Sunbeam, Oct. 18, 1918  

Mike Dixon is a historian and writer whose research and teaching focuses on 

community studies and social history. For nearly four decades, he has 

worked to encourage public interest and participation in the preservation of 

the past while creating understanding between earlier eras and the present.  
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 Following up on the informative and enjoyable information in the Summer 2020, Quarterly Newsletter (Volume 65, Issue No. 2), 

on the demolition of the former Baptist Church that stood in the cemetery on Yorke Street in Salem, perhaps more detail would be of 

interest. I knew of the church that had stood in the church yard on Yorke Street because my ancestor, Samuel Teal who was in the 

Salem Militia during the Revolutionary War is buried in close proximity to where the church stood. The church pictured in the 

Newsletter article did reveal that the building was a brick structure, which I had not known. However, this building was not the first 

church to be used by that historic congregation nor the last!                                                                                                                                                                               

 Not so long after John Fenwick settled the first permanent English colony in the Delaware Valley in 1675, other religious sects 

realized the relevance of the religious freedom being offered. Baptists were in New England, Rhode Island having been founded by 

Baptist Roger Williams, who also established the first Baptist Church in American at Providence, RI. It was from New England that 

the Rev. Timothy Brooks, with a small group of Baptists relocated from Swansea, Massachusetts to Bowentown, Cumberland 

County (then still a part of Salem County) around 1687.                                                                                                                                                 

 It was from this small group of New England Baptists that the Cohansey Baptist Church was formally founded in 1690 as the 

first known Baptist Church in West Jersey. During this same time, other Baptists began to meet in homes on the west side of the 

Cohansey River in areas that today are in Salem County. As numbers of worshipers increased, a request was made to the Cohansey 

Church for a meetinghouse to be constructed in the Salem area. In 1743 a frame meetinghouse was constructed on ground given by 

Daniel Smith (whose house still stands on Route 49 in Quinton Township). This location is between Salem and the Alloways Creek, 

at a site called Mill Hollow based upon a tide-mill that stood in that area. This meetinghouse was said to be 22 feet by 30 ½ feet in 

size, with galleries on three sides. A burial ground was established around the building. That historic burying ground survives in 

QuintoniTownshipiandithereilieiDanieliSmith,iwhoiinitiallyigaveitheiground,iandiEdwardiQuinton,iforiwhomitheivillageiandiTown

shipiareinamed.                                                                                                                                                                                                     

 By the late 1780s the small congregation had grown, as had the town of Salem. Other denominations had established churches, 

and the members at Mill Hollow decided to build a larger church in Salem. Mrs. Mary Dunlap gave the initial one and a half acres of 

land on Yorke Street in Salem for a church and cemetery. The church on Yorke Street, discussed in the previous Quarterly 

Newsletter, served the congregation until 1846, when a new structure was built in the Greek Revival style, on West Broadway in 

Salem. That building remained Salem’s sole Baptist Church until religious revivals in 1868-1869. At that time, 72 members of the 

First Baptist Church decided to separate and build another church. The newly formed congregation raised funds by subscription, 

purchased ground on the corner of Parrott (Seventh) Street and Fenwick (East Broadway), and the new building was dedicated as the 

Memorial Baptist Church in memory of the great revival that had occurred. 

More about Baptist Roots in Salem County                                  
By: Ronald Magill 

Sketch of church at Mill Hollow as published in the 1913 dedication pamphlet 

for the unveiling of the monument in the Mill Hollow Burying Ground. 
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WISTARBURG at the 1939 NEW YORK WORLD’S FAIR 

 “The most striking exhibit of early American glass at the New 

York World’s Fair, 1939, was shown in the New Jersey Building 

and was honored by segregation in the room of the Commission 

on Historic Sites, where it attracted deserved attention. It was 

sponsoredibyitheiSalemiCountyiHistoricaliSociety.                                                            

 “Just two hundred years ago [1739] Caspar Wistar contracted 

with Johan William Wentzell, Caspar Halter, Johan Marten 

Halter and Simeon Krusmier, German experts in glass blowing 

from Belgium, to teach him and his son Richard the art, and no 

one else, at his works near Alloway, formerly Thompson’s 

Bridge,iSalemiCounty,iNewiJersey.                                                                                       

 “It was the first successful factory where flint glass was made 

in  the Colonies. The business prospered with Salem County oak, 

barren sand and marl for a period of forty years, a long time as 

measured by the vicissitudes of the glassmaking industry then. In 

1777 the excise on glint glass was doubled and it was the 

beginning of the end at Wistarburg. During the life of the factory 

timber, principally oak from two thousand acres, was used for 

fuel.                                                                                                           

 “The tools used in early glass making were few, nippers, 

shears, an iron pipe or tube and a punty. More depended on the 

tact and dexterity of the workman than in anything else. These 

Dutch makers had a fondness for rich amber brown and made 

many off hand pieces of this color with charcoal. It was also 

known as  “Blackstrap”. A green flint they also made by using 

marl for color.                                                                              

 “Wistarburg was a great resort in sleighing time, visitors 

coming from far and near to see a sight so rare and so interesting 

as it was then. The batch was prepared and melted at night by 

burning oak wood which made a bright fire. Horns were made for 

the use of visitors to help liven the return trip home in the early 

hours of the morning. The one here portrayed was owned by 

Benjamin Tyler in 1787 and made at Wistarburg several years 

before.                                                                                                      

 “The three Dark Amber Gin Bottles (Blackstrap) show 

reliable indications of Wistarburg origin both in shape and color. 

The two square bottles were formerly owned by Captain William 

Smith of 1778 fame at Quinton’s bridge.  “The Flip Glass is a 

distinguished piece with a life-history in the Wistar Family.                                                       

 “Bulls Eye Window Glass was used for the embellishment of 

the frame house of Congressman Jacob Hufty on lower Market 

Street.                                                                                               

 “Attention is called to three typical greenish Aquamarine 

“offhand” Pitchers in the exhibit here portrayed. The one on the 

right of Globular Body with Decoration of Ribbing and small 

crimped foot and semi-ear shaped handle with turned up end is 

endowediwithiitsiAmericaniorigin.                                                                           

 “Some table ware was made at Wistarburg. The plate shown, 

an offhand product no doubt, was made by the workman for his 

own use.”                                                                                                                                   

                                                                                                                  

                                   Salem Sunbeam, Salem, NJ, November 8, 1939 
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Yes, I would like to become a member of the                   

Salem County Historical Society! 
 Name______________________________ New Member,  Renewal or  Gift   

Address___________________________________________________________________ 

City, State, Zip__________________________________________________ 

Telephone_______________________  Email ____________________________________ 

                                             Please make checks payable to the Salem County His-
torical Society.                                  The Society now accepts credit card payments 

for 
 new memberships, renewals, and upgrades through our secure website: 

www.salemcountyhistoricalsociety.com  

RETURN TO: SCHS, 83 Market Street, Salem, NJ 08079 

Student     $10 

Individual    $25 

Family/Household  $40 

Partner     $100 

Sustaining    $150 

Contributing   $250 

Lifetime    $500 

Please circle your desired category 

We also have Business & Corporate  
Membership Opportunities! 

     Oak Tree Associate      $100-$249 

     Pedersen Providers      $250-$499 

     Goodwin Providers      $500-$999                                                                             

     Fenwick Benefactors     $1000+ 

For more information on how your business 
can become members of the Society, please 
call (856) 935-5004 
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Corporate and Business Members 
“Partnerships with History” 

 

FENWICK BENEFACTORS 
The Denn House at Hancocks Bridge 

 
GOODWIN PROVIDERS                                              

Frank Leonards & Frank, LLC 
Mr. Ralph O. Harvard III 

Kates Realty, LLC 
 

PEDERSEN PROVIDERS 
Mannington Mills, Inc. 
Henry D. Young, Inc. 

 
OAK TREE ASSOCIATES 

Bedard, Kurowicki & Co., CPA’s  
Mr. and Mrs. James S. Davis 

Mr. Robert L. Davis 
Down Jersey Heritage Research, LLC 

Farmers Mutual Fire Insurance Company of 
Salem County 

Friends of the Hancock House 
Loretta Thompson Harris 

Ray Anita Hemphill 
J. F. Elk Painting 

John D. Jordan, Esq. 
Morgan’s Electrical Services 

Nancy Casey Team BHHS Fox & Roach                                      
Oak Tree Chapter-NSDAR 

Pine Tavern Distillery 
Stand Up For Salem, Inc. 

 
The Society is grateful for the support 

 of our corporate and business members.  
For more information about our 

 “Partnership with History” program 
Call (856) 935-5004 or visit 

www.salemcountyhistoricalsociety.com 

 

Board of Trustees 

Curtis W. Harker, President ....................................  2021 

Barbara Dawson, Executive Vice President……….  2021 

Robert Costa, VP Museum ........................................  2022 

Ellen Morrissey, VP Library ...................................  2020 

Robert Schmid, VP Buildings & Grounds .............  2020 

Bonny Beth Elwell, VP Membership .....................  2020 

Gaynel Schneeman, Treasurer .................................  2022 

Susan Parker, Recording Secretary ....................... .. 2022 

Barbara Smith Duffy, Trustee .................................  2020 

Martha Hogan-Battisti, Trustee  .............................  2022 

Diane Wohlrab, Trustee ...........................................  2022 

Autumn Angelus, Trustee .........................................  2021 

Jim Straughn, Trustee…..…………………………………..  2021  

Newsletter: J. Harlan Buzby, Amanda L. Pierce, 

Richard J. Guido, Jr. 

Staff 
 

Administrator and Librarian: Richard  J. Guido, Jr.  

Administrative Assistant: Amanda L. Pierce 

Museum Collections Coordinator: Alyssa Caltabiano   

Bookkeeper: Wanda Hofbauer 

Groundskeeper: William Jackson 

Housekeeper: Mary Cardinal 

 

Membership Report: 

Sustaining Membership:   
Albert Telsey         

Westfield, NJ 

Lifetime Membership: 
Priscilla Glasow 

Hendersonville, NC 

Salem Sunbeam, Salem, NJ,    

       October 18, 1918  
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The Salem County Historical Society receives general operating support grants and project grants from the New Jersey Historical Commission, a division of the Department of 

State.  Additional funding has been made possible in part by funds from the New Jersey Historical Commission, a division of the Department of State, through the Salem 

County Board of Chosen Freeholders and the Salem County Cultural and Heritage Commission.   
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Photo I.D. Please 

Photograph of Gayner Glass Works employees. Please help us identify these men and women!                                                   

                                                          From the collection 


